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Osterreichische Galerie Belvedere

Gustav KLt

Amalie Zuckerkandl

128 x 128 cm

IN 7700

1988 Schenkung Dr. Viktoria Kiinstler, Wien
Eintrag im Inventarbuch der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere: Schenkung Dr. Vita Kiinstler,
Cottageg. 19/c, 1180 Wien

Erwerbungsakt der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere: Z1. 21/88
Klimt-Werkverzeichnisnummer 213 (Fritz Novotny, Johannes Dobai. Gustav Klimt, Salzburg
1967, S. 370): angegebene Provenienz - Sammlung Zuckerkandl, Wien; Sammlung Bloch-
Bauer, Wien; Sammlung Prof. Miiller-Hofmann, Wien; Privatbesitz, Wien

Provenienz: Sammlung Zuckerkandl, Sammlung Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, — (?),

" Miiller-Hofmann (7), Dr. Viktoria Kiinstler, Wien :

Ausstellungen: Klimtausstellung in der Wiener Secession 1928; Exposition d' Art Autrichien im
Pariser Musée du Jeu de Paume 1937; Ausstellung tsterreichischer Kunst, Bern 1937;
Ausstellung , Entwicklung der dsterreichischen Kunst von 1897 bis 1938 in der Wiener
Akademie der bildenden Kiinste 1948
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Dokumentation:

1928
Klimt-Ausstellung in der Wiener Secession:
Katalognummer 58: ,,Damenbildnis. Besitz F. Bloch-Bauer* (Beilage 1)

Mirz 1932 ,
Inventarverzeichnis des Palais Bloch-Bauer, ElisabethstraBe in Wien mit der Angabe von
Versicherungswerten: i

,ochlafzimmer:
Klimt, Portriit (handschriftlicher Vermerk - Zuckerkand]) ....... 40.000.- (Kronen)"“ (Beilage 2)

1937 i
Exposition d’Art Autrichien im Pariser Musée du Jeu de Paumes:
Katalognummer 362: ,Mme. M. Zuckerkandl ... Vienne, Coll. M. F. Bloch-Bauer."

(Beilage 3)

-1938
Emigration Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers nach Ziirich”

1939 ;

Feststellung der Kunstsammlung im Palais Bloch-Bauer am 28. Jdnner 1939:

»P.d. Freitag den 28. Jdnner 1939 fand in Anwesenheit von Dir. Ruprecht, Dir. Ernst, Dr.
Schlosser, Dr. Fiihrer als Vertreter des Eigentiimers, 2 Herren einer Treuhandgesellschaft

(Dr. Peinsipp), eines Herrn der Geheimen Staatspolizei, ...Oberwalder und Referenten die
Besichtigung der Wohnung Ferd. Bloch-Bauer, Wien I. Elisabethstrasse 18 statt. Als Vorgang
war vereinbart worden, dass jene Stiicke bezeichnet werden, fiir welche eine
Ausfuhrbewilligung nicht erteilt werden kann. Dir. Ruprecht behielt sich vor, das Interesse des
deutschen Musealbesitzes zu wahren. Als wichtige Gruppen fallen auf (...)

3. Eine Reihe von Bildern von G. Klimt. ... Es wiire zu verhindern, dass die Sammlungen
Schenkungen annehmen, bzw. zu niedrigem Preis kaufen und ihre Antrége von dieser
Erwerbsmdglichkeit abhdngig machen.

An Kunstwerken wurden vom Referenten festgehalten

Gustav Klimt, Frau Zuckerkand] ..." (Beilage 4)

Sfcherste]lung der Kunstsammlung (Sicherstellungsbescheide zur Samml'u’ng Ferdinand Bloch-
Bauer: Z1. 782/Dsch/39 und 1204/Dsch/39):
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Die Aufstellung der sichergestellten Kunstwerke umfasst 43 Positionen (unter Nr. 43 ist dje
Porzellansammlung summarisch angefiihrt): unter den 3 vermerkten Werken Gustav Klimts
(Nr. 33, Apfelbaum; Nr. 34, Birkenwald und ohne Nr. handschriftlich hinzugefiigt Portrait der
Frau Bloch-Bauer) scheint das Zuckerkandl-Bildnis nicht auf. (Beilage 5)

1940

Liquidation des Vermégens von Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer durch den Wiener Rechtsanwalt Dr.
Erich Fiihrer: ,Ich habe in der Angelegenheit Bloch-Bauer, den ich seit 3 Jahr::n vertrete, nach
mihevoller Arbeit eine Bereinigung der Steuerangelegenheit, wie ich wohl sagen kann, sowohl|
zur Zufriedenheit meines Klienten, als auch insbesondere des deutschen Reiches gefiihrt, was in
dem endgiltigen Vergleich vom 5. April 1940 ... seinen Niederschlag fand: ... Da ich in diesem
Vergleich die Bildersammlung freibekam, ... darf ich Sie im einzelnen darum bitten, dass die
nachfolgend angefiihrten, wie bereits erwihnten kieinen Kunstwerke, von mir erworben
werden kénnen, bzw. hat mir Bloch-Bauer mit Riicksicht auf 3jdhrige weitaus
iiberdurchschnittliche Anwaltstitigkeit, fiir die ich selbstversténdlich honoriert wurde, iiberdies
ein'i‘ge dieser kleinen Bilder geschenkweise zugesichert.” (Schreiben Dr. Erich Fiihrer an
Direktor Hans Posse, Staatliche Gemildegalerie Dresden vom 7. Dezember 1940; Archiv des

- Bundesdenkmalamtes Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer, Karton 32, Fasz. Bloch-Bauer 1, ZL
2899/K/40; siche dazu auch den unpublizierten Bericht der Kommission fiir
Provenienzforschung zur Sammlun g Bloch-Bauer, Wien 1999)

»Die Sammlung Bloch-Bauer wurde vom Finanzamt zur Ginze quuidieft - Ankiufe erfolgten
von Seite des Kunstmuseum Linz, der Stidtischen Sammlungen Wien und anderer &ffentlicher
Museen. Die Angelegenheit erscheint als abgeschlossen. Fiir ein Portrit von Kokoschka wurde
eine Ausfuhrbewilligung gegeben." (Beilage 6)

(siehe dazu auch Hubertus Czernin, Die Félschung. Der Fall Bloch-Bauer und das Werk Gustav
Klimts, Band 2, Wien 1999, S. 398 f)

1942

Deportation der Amalie Zuckerkandl mit ihrer Tochter Nora Stiasny am 9. April 1942 nach
Izbica im ,,Generalgouvernement"; spitestens im Oktober 1942 vermutlich im Vemichtungslager
Belzec ermordet (Dokumentationsarchiv des ésterreichischen Widerstandes, Datenbank der
Holocaust-Opfer)

1948

Ausstellung ~Entwicklung der 8sterreichischen Kunst von 1897 bis 1938 in der Wiener
Akademie der bildenden Kiinste: _

S. 12 (ohne Katalognummer): ,Bildnis Frau Z. (Neue Galerie)” (Beilage 7)

r"'l—-

o
Ca
f—
0o
(WS ]



| - LA

1979

Schreiben Robert Bentley (Neffe von Adele und Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer) an den Wiener
Rechtsanwalt Dr. Gustav Rinesch (Beilage 8):

»Dabei ist mir aufgefallen, was bisher nie “aufs Tapet” gebracht oder besprochen wurde. In
Onkels Schlafzimmer in Wien, Elisabethstrasse hing Klimt's Bildnis: Frau Amalie Zuckerkand]
... Frau Amalie (Malschi) Zuckerkand! war eine intime Freundin meiner Tante Adele und |
Onkels Ferdinand. Thre Tochter Minnie war mit Professor Mueller-Hoffman (§ic 1} verheiratet,
deren Schicksal seit 1938 mir unbekannt ist. Onkel Ferdinand hat das Bildnis von Frau
Zuckerkandl erworben. Das Bild ist in der Inventur von 1932 enthalten, zusaetzlich zu den 6
Klimt Bildern, welche jetzt im Besitze der Oesterreichischen Galerie sind. Onkel hat mir nie den
Kaufpreis genannt, es war fuer 8.000 Schilling versichert; ... Nun steht in oberwaehntem Klimt
Werk, dass das Portraet von Frau Zuckerkand! im Besitze der Sammlung Bloch-Bauer war.
Nachher im Besitz von Prof. Mueller-Hoffman (sic !) und jetzt in (mir unbekannten)
Privatbesitz. Es waere fuer mich hoechst interessant zu erfahren, wie das Bild in den Besitz von
Mueller-Hoffman (sic !) uebergegangen ist und wer der jetzige Besitzer ist. In den
Alifstellungcn von Dr. Rinesch u. wahrscheinlich auch Dr. Erich Fuehrer wurde das Bild nie

erwihnt.”

1988

Widmung an die Osterreichische Galerie durch Vita Kiinstler

,.JEs war der Wunsch meines verstorbenen Mannes, Dr. Gustav Kiinstler, wie auch mein
eigener, das in unserem Besitz befindliche Bild von “Gustav Klimt: Bildnis der Amalia
Zuckerkandl ...” der Osterreichischen Galerie in Wien zu widmen. Ich biete daher der Republik
Osterreich das Bild zur sofortigen Ubernahme als Geschenk an." (Beilagen 9 und 10)
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Kommentar:

Im Klimt-Werkverzeichnis, das Johannes Dobai fiirjdie 1967 mit Fritz Novotny publizierte
Klimt-Monographie erstellt hat, ist unter der Nummer 213 (S. 370) Klimts Portrait der Amalie
Zuckerkand| angefiihrt. Die angegebene Provenienz - Sammlung Zuckerkandl, Wien;
Sammlung Bloch-Bauer, Wien; Sammlung Prof. Miiller-Hofmann, Wien: Privatbesitz, Wien -
148t sich in Bezug auf die Sammlung Prof. Miiller-Hofmann aufgrund der eingesehenen Akten
nicht belegen; damit erscheint die tradierte Erwerbungsgeschichte mit dem Ankauf des Bildes
aus dem Besitz Miiller-Hofmann durch Frau Dr. Vita Kiinstler wihrend des Zweiten
Weltkrieges fraglich. Eindeutig nachvollziehen 146t ésich die Provenienz des 1988 von Frau

Dr. Vita Kiinstler der Osterreichischen Galerie gewidmeten Portraits bis 1939 bzw. ab 1948,

Bereits 1979 duBerte Robert Bentley, ein Neffe von,Adele und Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, nach
der Durchsicht der genannten Publikation Zweifel: »Nun steht in oberwaehntem Klimt Werk,
dass das Poriraet von Frau Zuckerkandl im Besitze der Sammlung Bloch-Bauer war. Nachher
im Besitz von Prof. Mueller-Hoffman (sic !) und jetzt in (mir unbekannten) Privatbesitz. Es
waere fuer mich hoechst interessant zu erfahren, wie das Bild in den Besitz von Mueller-

* Hoffman (sic !) uebergegangen ist und wer der jetzige Besitzer ist. (siche Beilage 8)

Das unvollendete Portrait der Amalie Zuckerkand] (urspriinglich im Besitz von Amalie und Otto
Zuckerkandl) 148t sich seit 1928 in der Sammlung von Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer nachweisen:
neben der Présentation in diversen Ausstellungen (siehe dazu die Beilagen 1 und 3) scheint das
Bild im Inventarverzeichnis des Palais Bloch-Bauer vom Mirz 1932 auf (siehe Beilage 2).
Nach der Emigration Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers nach Ziirich im Jahr 1938 wird das Bild bei der’
Feststellung seiner Kunstsammlung im Palais Bloch-Bauer in der Wiener ElisabethstraBe am
28. Jénner 1939 offiziell von einem Referenten des Instituts fiir Denkmalpflege registriert (siche
Beilage 4).

Bei der folgenden Sicherstellung der Kunstsammlung (Sicherstellungsbescheide zur Sammlung
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer: Z1. 782/Dsch/39 und 1204/Dsch/39, siehe Beilage 5) scheint das
Zuckerkandl-Bildnis in der Aufstellung allerdings nicht auf (auch Kokoschkas Portrait des
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, das wihrend des Krieges in die Schweiz verbracht werden konnte,
findet sich nicht unter den sichergestellten Kunstwerken). Auf diese Sicherstellung bezieht sich
auch ein Schreiben des Finanzamtes Wieden an den Oberfinanzprisidenten, Wien vorn 21.
Dezember 1940: , Ich lege ein Verzeichnis der bei Bloch-Bauer gepfindeten Gemalde mit dem
Bemerken vor, dass die Sammlung vierzig Gemiilde enthilt.* (Bundesarchiv Koblenz, B 323,
ZI. 118), .

Zur Abdeckung angeblicher ,,Steuerschulden* erfolgte die Liquidation des gepfindeten
Vermdgens von Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer durch den Wiener Rechtsanwalt Dr. Erich Fiihrer:

ry 5
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~Die Sammlung Bloch-Bauer wurde vom Finanzamt zur Génze liquidiert - Ankiufe erfolgten
von Seite des Kunstmuseumn Linz, der Stidtischen Sammlungen Wien und anderer 6ffentlicher
Museen. Die Angelegenheit erscheint als abgeschlossen. Fiir ein Portrit von Kokoschka wurde
eine Ausfuhrbewilligung gegeben.* (Beilage 6)

Mit der erfolgreichen Ausfuhr des Kokoschka-Portraits fiir Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer in die .
Schweiz argumentierte Dr. Fiihrer auch 1947 in seinem Strafverfahren am Volksgerichtshof in
Wien (weitere Kunstwerke wurden in seiner Rechtfertigung vor Gericht nur summarisch, aber
nicht namentlich angefiihrt):

»Dem Grossindustriellen Prisident Bloch-Bauer habe ich anlésslich der Verwertung seines
Verm&gens wertvolles Silber und wertvolle Bilder unter der Motivierung, sie zu verkaufen,
zuriickbehalten und ihm iiberbracht. So habe ich insbes. einen wertvollen Kokoschka in die
Schweiz gebracht, der sich heute im Ziiricher Museum befindet. Ich habe mit Bloch-Bauer in
der Schweiz ganz offentlich verkehrt bis 1944 und habe mich nie darum gekiimmert ob mein
Verhéltnis zu Bloch-Bauer, wie die Reichsdeutschen sagten, mit einem sogenannten “Deutschen
Blick” angesehen wurde und ob die Gestapo dahinter steht." (Beilage 11)

Eine Vermittlung bzw. Weitergabe des Zuckerkandl-Portraits aus dem Besitz Bloch-Bauer
durch den Rechtsanwalt Dr. Fiihrer, der mit Urteil des Landesgerichts fiir Strafsachen 1947
wegen Verbrechens des Hochverrates zu drei Jahren schweren Kerkers verurteilt wurde, 148t
sich aufgrund der eingesehenen Volksgerichtshofakten nicht belegen. Auch in der erhaltenen
Korrespondenz Dr. Fiihrers mit Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer (bzw. in Schreiben zur Verwertung
von dessen Sammlung), die bruchstiickhaft im Restitutionsakt Bloch-Bauer im Archiv des
Bundesdenkmalamtes iiberliefert ist (Abschriften ad ZI. 1716/48, Karton 32) findet das Klimt-
Portrait keine Erwihnung.

Damit ist auch eine mégliche Ubergabe bzw. ein Verkauf des Bildes durch Dr. Fiihrer an die
Familie Miiller-Hofmann (im Auftrag Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers ?, der ja ein enger Freund von
Amalie Zuckerkand! war) nach der offiziellen Registrierung des Bildes im Jinner 1939 im Palais
Bloch-Bauer, von der die publizierte Provenienz bei Novotny-Dobai ausgeht, quellenmiBig

nicht verifizierbar.

Hermine Miiller-Hofmann, die Tochter der portraitierten Amalie Zuckerkandl, konnte als
Ehefrau des Malers Wilhelm Miiller-Hofmann den Krieg in Ubersee (Oberbayern) iiberdanern
(siehe dazu auch den Akt der Finanzlandesdirektion zu Nora Stiasny, der Schwester Hermine
Miiller-Hofmanns; in diesem Aktenbestand scheint auch Frau Miiller-Hofmann als
Miteigentiimerin des Sanatorium Purkersdorf auf: als »Nichtjiidin* versuchte sie noch im Mérz
1943 ihren 9/60 Anteil am Sanatorium zu verkaufen; Beilagen 12 und 13). p

In einem Gesprich, das Ruth Pleyer am 23. Februar 1999 mit der iiber 90 j_‘zihrigen Frau Miiller-
Hofmann in Wien fiihrte, bestitigte diese, ,,daB Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer dies (die Ubergabe des
Klimtportraits) nach seiner Emigration aus dem Exil veranlaBt habe.* (siehe dazu Hubertus

T
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Czemin, S. 397, Anm. 436). In einem folgenden Gesprich mit dem Direktor der
Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere, Dr. Gerbert Frodl, am 2. Juni 1999 konnte Frau Miiller-
Hofmann sich , jedoch nicht an den Zeitpunkt der Ubergabe erinnern ebensowenig daran, wer
ihr das Bild tibergeben hat. Sie erzihlte, das Bild sei “lang” bei ihr gewesen und sei dann von
Frau Dr. Vita Kiinstler erworben worden.” (Beilage 14)

Mit der Présentation des Portraits in der Ausstellung ,Entwicklung der Ssterreichischen Kunst
von 1897 bis 1938" in der Wiener Akademie der bildenden Kiinste im Jahr 1948 148t sich das -
Bild nach 1939 erstmals wieder eindeutig belegen. Im Ausstellungskatalog ist es als ,,Bildnis
Frau Z.* und der Besitzangabe ,Neue Galerie" publiziert (siche Beilage 7). Entgegen dieses
Besitzhinweises ist anzunehmen, daB das Bild als private Leihgabe von Frau Dr. Kiinstler
gezeigt wurde. Frau Dr. Vita Kiinstler hatte nach der Emigration Otto Kallir-Nirensteins die
Geschifte der von diesem gegriindeten Neuen Galerie in Wien iibernommen.

Hildegard Bachert, Mitarbeiterin Otto Kallirs in der Galerie St. Etienne in New York seit 1940
ging in &inem Gesprich mit der Bearbeiterin am 6. Juli 1999 davon aus, daB8 Frau Dr. Vita

1

Kiinstler das Portrait der Amalie Zuckerkand! wihrend des Krieges privat angekauft hatte; das
Bildnis war laut Frau Bachert nie im Besitz der Neuen Galerie in Wien.

Auch Frau Dr. Alice Strobl, pensionierte Vizedirektorin der Albertina, bestitigte in einem
Telephonat am 6. Juli 1999 als langjihrige Freundin Dr. Kiinstlers den Ankauf des Klimt von
Frau Hermine Miiller-Hofmann wéhrend des Krieges.

Nach 1945 erfolgte laut Dr. Strobl ein Riickkaufangebot durch Dr. Vita Kiinstler an Frau
Hermine Miiller-Hofmann, das von dieser nicht wahrgenommen worden sei.

Auch in der von Frau Dr. Kiinstler tradierten Erwerbungsgeschichte wird der Ankauf des Bildes
aus dern Besitz der Familie Miiller-Hofmann bestitigt (siehe dazu das Schreiben des Neffen von
Frau Dr. Kiinstler, Ing. Erwin Budischofsky, Beilage 15)

Eine Erwerbung des Bildes aus dem Besitz Miiller-Hofmann durch Frau Dr. Kiinstler l:Bt sich
quellenméBig allerdings nicht belegen: auch im A:ch:iv der Neuen Galerie (heute im Archiv der
Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere) sind keine Erwc;:rbungsuntcrlagen vorhanden.
Rechtsanwalt Randol E. Schoenberg vermutete daher nach seinem Gesprich mit Hermine
Miiller-Hofmann im Mai 1999 (siehe dazu auch Hubertus Czernin, S. 399), daB das
Zuckerkandl-Portrait durch Dr. Fiihrer nicht an die F:amilie Miiller-Hofmann tibergeben worden
sei, sondemn von diesem direkt an Frau Dr. Kiinstlcr;verkauft wurde: ,,Although we cannot
know for certain, it is my very strong suspicion that Mirs. Kuenstler obtained this portrait, not
from the Mueller-Hoffmanns (who were hiding in Bavaria during the war) but from Dr.
Fuehrer. If this is true, then the portrait must be returned under the second})mng of the new
law.” (Beilage 16)

LJ2316 7



Benutzte Archive:

Archiv der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere

Im Archiv der Neuen Galerie (Osterreichische Galerie Belvedere) sind keine
Erwerbungsunterlagen vorhanden.

Archiv des Bundesdenkmalamtes, Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer

Dokumentationsarchiv des 8sterreichischen Widerstandes .

Archiv des Bundesministeriums filr Finanzen, Aktejn der Finanzlandesdirektion (Nora Stiasny, .
Z1. 19.608, mit Dokumenten zu Hermine Miiller-Hofmann)

Literatur: i

Hubertus Czemnin, Die Filschung. Der Fall Bloch-Bauer und das Werk Gustav Klimts,
Band 2; S. 368 ff, Wien 1999 |

Fritz Novotny, Johannes Dobai. Gustay Klimt, Sal?burg 1967
i

25. Februar 2000
Zusammengestellt von Monika MAYER
Archiv der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere in Wien (Tel+Fax: 795 57-131)
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Beilagen:

1. Katalog der XCIX. Ausstellung in der Wiener Secession
Klimt-Gedichtnis-Ausstellung, 27. Juni - 31. Juli 1928

2. Inventar Mirz 1932
Eine Kopie wurde von E. Randol Schoenberg zur Verfiigung gestellt, .

3. Katalog der Exposition d'Art Autrichien im Pariser Musée du Jeu de Paumes
Mai - Juni 1937

4. Aktenvermerk Dr. Josef Zykan, Zentralstelle fiir Denkmalschutz vom 2. Februar 1939
Archiv des Bundesdenkmalamtes, Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer, Karton 32, Z1. 782/39

5. Sammlung Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, Sicherstellungsbescheide: Z1. 782/Dsch/39 und
1204/Dsch/39 :
Archiv des Bundesdenkmalamtes, Karton 8/1

6. Aktenvermerk Dr. Herbert Seiber], Institut fiir.Denkmalpﬂege vom 24. Februar 1943
Archiv des Bundesdenkmalamtes, Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer, Karton 32, ZI. 808/K/41

7. Katalog der Ausstellung ,.Entwicklung der &sterreichischen Kunst von 1897 bis 1938
in der Wiener Akademie der bildenden Kiinste, Mirz bis April 1948

8. Kopie des Schreibens Robert Bentley an Gustl (vermutlich Dr. Gustav Rinesch, Anm.
der Verf.) vom 17. Februar 1979

Eine Kopie wurde von E. Randol Schoenberg zur Verfiigung gestellt.

9. Schreiben Dr. Viktoria Kiinstler an das Bundesministerium fiir Wissenschaft und Kunst
vom 15. Dezember 1987

Archiv der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere, Z1. 21/88

10. Schenkungsvertrag Dr. Viktoria Kiinstler an das Bundesministerium fiir Wissenschaft
und Kunst vom 17. Mirz 1988
Archiv der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere, Z1. 21/88 s

11. Landesgericht fiir Strafsachen Wien, Protokoll der Hauptverhandlung in der Strafsache
gegen Dr. Erich Fiihrer am 9. September 1947
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Dokumentationsarchiv des sterreichischen Widerstandes, Z1. 19.130/3; Landesgericht Wien,
Z1. Vg 11 Vr 5418/46 (Kopie)

12. Abschrift der Spezialvollmacht vom 5. September 1939

Archiv des Bundesministeriums fiir Finanzen, Akten der Finanzlandesdirektion, Nora Stiasny,
Zl1. 19.608

13. Schreiben Rechtsanwalt Dr. Robert von SchieBer an den Oberﬁnanzpriisid‘enten

Dr. Finsterbusch vom 26. Mirz 1943

Archiv des Bundesministeriums fiir Finanzen, Akten der Finanzlandesdirektion, Nora Stiasny,
Z1. 19.608

14. Gedichtnisprotokoll von Dr. Gerbert Frodl vom 2. Juni 1999

15. Kopie des Schreibens Ing. Erwin Budischofsky an E. Randol Schoenberg vom
18. Februar 2000

+:16. Kopie des Schreibens E. Randol Schoenberg an Dr. Vita Kiinstler vom 9. Dezember 1999
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DOKUMENTATION ,,MLE ZUCKERKANDL* VON
GUSTAYV KLIMT

1924:

Amalie Zuckerkandl iibersiedelt in die Griinangergasse 1.

1928:

Klimt-Ausstellung in der Wiener Secession; Katalognummer 58: ,,Damenbildnis — Besitz F.
Bloch-Bauer*

Miirz 1932, Inventarverzeichnis des Palais Bloch-Bauer
%

Schlafzimmer: Klimt, Portrit (handschriftl. Vermerk — Zuckerkandl)......... 40.000 Kronen

1937, Ausstellung im Jeu de Paumes, Paris:

Katalognummer 362: Mme M. Zuckerkandl....Vienne, Coll M.F. Bloch-Bauer

15. Mirz 1938:

Flucht von Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer nach Prag

27. April 1938:

Einleitung eines Steuerstrafverfahrens der Finanzbehérden gegen Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer.

Friihjahr 1938:

Hitlers Kunstberater Emst Schulte-Strathaus holt im Beisein Robert Bloch-Bauer (spiter
Bentley) drei Bilder Rudolf von Alts aus dem Palais Bloch-Bauer

4. Mai

Sicherstellungsauftrag der Steuer- und Finanzbehérden iiber das gesamte dsterr. Vermdgen
von Bloch-Bauer. Ab diesem Moment hatte Ferdinand B.-B. keinen Zugriff mehr auf seine
Vermégenswerte. ‘

1938:

- Teimum
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Im Sicherstellungsbescheid der Kunstsammlung taucht das Bildnis Amalie Zuckerkandl nicht
auf. i

S. April 1940:

Erich Fiihrer schlieBt mit der Finanz einen Vergleich ab. Der Verkauf der Kunstsammlung zur
Abdeckung von behaupteten Steuerschulden in der Hohe von 1,43 Millionen RM.

9.2. 1941, Mini aus Wien I, Augarten-Palais, an Viktor Zuckerkandl, Wellesley bei

Boston A

" Lieber Viki. Heute ist nach sehr langer Pause Dein Brief an Mama angekommen und sie hat
ihn uns Mittag zum Lesen mitgebracht. (...) Bei uns ist alles ruhig und unveréndert, nur ist
Willi leider durch sein alten Leiden in der Arbeit weiter behindert, aber trotz der Behinderung
hat er doch einiges Gute gemacht und hofft im Sommer weiter zu tun, da er ja am Land jetzt
ein schones Atelier hat und genug Pline, die er ausfithren will. Unsere Wohnung drauBen ist
ein groBer Lichtblick und auch das Zusammensein mit den Freunden in der Nihe sehr schén.
Ich habe vor, mir heuer einen tippigen Blumen- und Gemiisegarten zu zichen. Mama war im
vorigen Sommer nicht dazu zu bringen hinaus zu kommen, obwohl sie es nétig hitte, (sich
halt sich trotz aller Aufregungen erstaunlich gut, hat nur sehr abgenommen, und die Nerven
versagen oft, aber an Tagen, wo wie heute Dein Brief, eine gute Nachricht kommt, ist sie von
grossem Optimismus erfiillt) und heuer hofft sie ja reisen zu kénnen, was ich ihr von Herzen
wiinschen wiirde, aber ich sehe es noch nicht, in diesem Fall kime ich dann nach Wien, um
ihr behilflich zu sein. Wenn es nur schon so weit wire, auch fiir Nora, die einem leid tun
kann. Aber dariiber will ich mich nicht weiter auslassen, das tut ja Mama von Uberzeugung.

4.6.1941, aus Haspeting, Bayern, and Viktor Zucke[kand], Wellgg' ley College,
Massachusetts (von Wehrmacht gedffnet):.

Lieber Viki. Heute nur ein paar Zeilen, um die Bedingungen, unter denen Mamas Reise zu
Euch stattfinden kann, einmal klar auszusprechen. Nachdem ich hier einige Briefe von Mama
erhalten habe, verstehe ich, wieso unausgesetzt Missverstindnisse entstehen miissen, denn sie
driickt sich so verworren aus, daB man sich schwer auskennen kann, besonders wenn hie und
da etwas verloren geht.

Um das Visum zu bekommen, mu8 sie einen gebuchten und bezahlten Schiffsplatz fiir ein
bestimmtes Datum haben; und zwar muB sie eine Photokopie oder sonst eine giiltige
Bestitigung in Hénden haben, um einwandfrei dadurch zu beweisen, daB dieser Platz
richtiggehend filr sie reserviert ist. Damit und mit dem Pass, den sie sich besorgen muB, geht
sie dann aufs Konsulat und bekommt auBer ihrer Quote ihr Visum und kann reisen. Anders
geht es ausgeschlossen. (...) Mit Nora, die hoffentlich diesmal fortkommt, hétte sie wohl auf
keinen Fall fahren kénnen, denn man spricht hier, daB alle Plitze bis Weihnachten belegt
seien und Noras Platz soll schon fiir Juli sein. Ich kann mir denken, daf die Aufbringung des
Geldes keine leichte Sache war und du tust mir schon leid, aber es muB} wirklich sein, daB
beide reisen, denn wir hatten viel Aufregung diesen Winter. Was sagst Du zu dem unerhdrten
Verhalten Ferrys, der ihr jetzt die Unterstiitzung entzieht, obwohl er noch sehr wohlhabend
sein soll und recht gut lebt. Wir werden inzwischen das Nétige hergeben und hoffen, daf - "~ *.
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Wohnadresse von Amalie Zuckerkandl seit 1924 Griinangergasse 2 — Vis-a-vis befand sich
die Neue Galerie (Griinangergasse 1)

Herbst 1938:

Flucht Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers von Prag nach Paris.

27.12.1938, Postkarte an Viktor Zuckerkandl, Sch\'#eden:

Weihnachten war Nora u. Mama bei uns, Nora mit ’("Jb‘emachten und Hund, es war ganz
gemiitlich. Nora geht wahrscheinlich nach Nicaragua,'der Wermutstropfen ist dabei Paul, den
sie nun gliicklich los war, aber sie muB ihn beniitzen, da er bereits in dem Komitee ist,
28. Jinner 1939: i

° i
»Kunstbeschau* im Palais Bloch-Bauer. Anwesend Gestapo, Vertreter der Museen und des
Denkmalamtes, einer Versicherungsgesellschaft sowie der komm. Verwalter des Vermdigens,
Erich Fiihrer. ,,An Kunstwerken wurde vom Referenten festgehalten: Gustav Klimt, Frau
Zuckerkandl" (...)

19.September 1939:

Einreise Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers in die Schweiz, Ziirich.

25.9.1939, Postkarte aus Haspeting an Viktor Zuckerkandl:

(-..) Von Mama habe ich jetzt, wo Nora endlich untergebracht ist, sie wohnt bei Frau Lenk,
gute Nachricht, wenn die ewige Sorge mit Nora nicht wire, wir tiberhaupt alles fiir sie
leichter, aber hoffen wir, daB jetzt einige Ruhe eingetreten sein wird, nachdem Purkersdorf
verkauft ist.

Herbst 1939, Mini M-H. Brief an Viktor Zuckerkandl:

(..) Eine fiir uns erfreuliche Begebenheit, wir haben die gewiinschte Wohnung ins Haspeting
(nahe von Bergen) gemietet. Eine ganz wunderbare Lage und Landschaft und das angenehme
ist, daB sie uns das ganze Jahr zur Verfiigung steht, vorliufig wollen wir aber nur die 5-6
Sommermonate drauBen sein; auch wegen Mama, da8 sie nicht solange allein ist. Ich mach
mir wegen ihr Sorgen, da die Pension von Ferry so ungewiss ist, man weiB von Monat zu
Monat nicht, ob sie sie bekommt, aber hoffen wir das Beste. Unsere Pension ist leider auch
um 30 M gekiirzt, eine neue Steuer, aber man bringt es durch sparsames Leben wieder
herein.(...)

.
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Heinrich auch etwas gibt. Wenn Nora einmal fort ist, ist dies alles leichter. Aber jetzt genug
von diesen unerfreulichen Dingen.

26.11.1941:

Abmeldung aus Griinangangergasse.
NEUER Wort Grundlgasse 1, 1020 Wien

9.4. 1942:

Deportation von Amalie Zuckerkandl und Nora Stiassny.

24. Miirz 1943:

Denkmalamt hilt die vollstindige Liquidierung der Sammlung Bloch-Bauer fest. Nicht
inkludiert: Kokoschka und Klimts Unterach am Attersee. Keine Erwdhnung von Amalie.

13. November 1945:

Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer stirbt in Ziirich.

1948, Ausstellung Akademie der bildénden Kiinste:

S. 12: Bildnis Frau Z. (Eigentiimer: Neue Galerie)

AUSSAGEN MINI MULLER-HOFMANNS:

Februar 1999 gegeniiber Ruth Pleyer:
Ferdinand B.-B. habe die Ubergabe/Schenkung des Bildes nach seiner Emigration veranlaBt.

Mai 1999 gegeniiber Randol Schoenberg:
Sie konne sich nicht erinnern, daB Bild wihrend des Krieges besessen zu haben.

2. Juni 1999 gegeniiber Frodl:

Sie kénne sich nicht an den Zeltpunkt der Ubergabe erinnern, ebenso wenig, wer ihr das Bild
libergeben habe. Das Bild sei lange bei ihr gewesen und dann von Vita Kiinstler erworben
worden.

Die Kunsthistorikerin Alice Strobl bestitigt die Darstellung, daB V. Kiinstler wihrend des
Krieges von Miiller-Hofmanns das Bild erworben und daB Mlm Muller-Hofmann nach 1945
den Riickkauf nicht wahrgenommen habe. Rl
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Undatierte Aktennotiz der Israelitischen Kultusgemeinde Wien, entstanden im Mai 1940

Archiv der IKG Wien, Anlaufstelle,Ordner ,D*

(-Aktennotizen, Beschliisse, Verfigungen® 1940/41)
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Introduction

The following summary of my research on the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!” by Gustav Kilimt
and its provenance was written for the descendants and heirs of both Amalie Zuckerkandl and
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer in December 2002/January 2003. It contains a compilation of the
sources available at this point and reflects my personal thoughts on the provenance of the
painting, a position to which | have come after neafly four years of continuous research and

thorough study of the material available.

As | am trying to outline what happened to the painﬁng before and particularly after March 1938
[ feel | cannot do so without also describing the fates of those involved at least to a certain-
extent. Since the story of the Bloch-Bauer family has already been the subject of Hubertus
Czernin: Die Félschung, my summary rather draws on the documents concerning Amalie
Zuckerkandl and her children (especially Minnie — alternatively spelt Mini - Muller-Hofmann and
her family) since most of them were unknown to both Hubertus Czernin and me when Dte
Falschung was first published in 1999. The conclusion | have come to draws from all
documentation on the painting’s history available to me. | do, however not exclude the
possibility of further material existent that could possibly entirely clarify the matter (see below).

I have tried to translate documents as precisely as possible and | have included photocopies of
essential originals where available to me for those of you who do speak/read German (see
Annex 1). The provenance of each document is listed. Needless to say, this research wou!d not
have been possible without the work and help of many others, in particular, of course, Hubertus
Czernin's groundbreaking interest and thoughts on the matter, and the contributions of the
diligent Monika Mayer at the Austrian Gallery without whom Austrian provenance research
would not stand were it does. She has shared all her information and been most cooperative in

every possible detail.

I consider the following compilation background information for the families involved and their
representatives only and therefore private and confidential. Please kindly understand my not
wanting to be quoted without my pﬁor consent. The views expressed are entirely mine as are
any mistakes. Any additional information and clarifying evidence will be highly appreciated.
— s 002725
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Gustav Klimt: The Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl - Provenance

Catalogue raisonné Fritz Novotny, Johannes Dobai: Gustav Klimt. Salzburg: 1967. p. 370, No
213 '
Provenance listed: Collection Zuckerkandl, Wien; Collection Bloch-Bauer, Wien; Collection Prof.
Maller-Hofmann, Wien: Private property, Vienna (recte: Dr. Victoria Kunstler, Vienna; Dr. Gustay

Kanstler, Vienna; Dr Victoria Kinstler, Vienna — see below).

Currently property of the Austrian Gallery, Vienna (bequest of Dr.Vita Kinstler).

Shortly before the outbreak of the First World War Gustav Klimt made his first sketches for a
portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand] (née Schiesinger) who had married Otto Zuckerkandl, a well-
known urologist in 1985, Otto Zuckerkand! in his turn was a brother of Victor Zuckerkandl,
builder of the Sanatory House in Purkersdorf that had been designed by Josef Hoffmann, and a
preeminent promoter of the modern Austrian Arts around the turn of the century. Another brother
of Otto and Viktor, Emil, was married to Bertha Zuckerkandl-Szeps, a cousin of the portrayed

Amalie Zuckerkandl, and an eminent journalist of her times.

The Zuckerkand] family had been friends with Gustav Klimt since well before the turn of the

. century. In 1915, after the outbreak of World War I, Otto Zuckerkandl - who in 1912 had been
promoted head of the Surgery Department of the Rothschild Hospital, the Jewish community’s
hespital in Vienna - and his wife Amalie moved to Lemberg were Otto Zuckerkandl served in a
military hospital. His wife worked in the same hospital as a Red Cross aid. The completion of the
portrait was such interrupted, and Klimt only took up paintiné again in 1917. Due to the artist's
untimely death in 1918, the portrait remained unfinished and was later hanging in the couple's
apartment on Mbliwaldplatz in Vienna. (Cf.: Alice Strobl: Gustav Klimt. Die Zeichnungen 1912-
1918. Band Il1.) : '

In 1919, Amalie and Otto Zuckerkand| h-ad a divorce. Otto Zuckerkand| died in 1921, and the

portrait remained.in his wife's propérty. Already during the 1920ies Amalie Zuckerkand! sold the

pain_ﬁng to Fercl[ngqq Bloch-Bauer. In February 1999, Hermine Mtlller;Hc_:‘fmann, then the -
couple’s only sm;rng child, told the author of this summary that Ferdinéﬁd Bloch-Bauerhad (027 20



even purchased the painting twice, implying that he had such wanted to support her widowed
mother. No later than 1928, when it was shown as number 58 — “Portrait of a Lady” -
(.Damenbildnis Besitz F. Bloch-Bauer") during a Klimt exhibition at the Secession, the “Portrait
of Amalie ZuckerkandI” had become property of Ferdinand Bloch Bauer. (Klimt- Ged&chtnis-
Ausstellung 27. Juni 1928 bis 31. Juli 1928. XCIX. Ausstellung der Vereinigung Bildender
Kinstler Wiener Secession. ) Annex A. During the 1930ies it was part of the interior of
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer's house in Vienna, Elisabethstrasse. According to an inventory dating
from March 1932, the portrait was hanging in his bedroom and insured for 40 000 Czech

Crowns. (“Inventar 1932". Bloch-Bauer Family Archives )

Otto and Amalie Zuckerkandl had three children: Eleonore, called Nora, was married to Paul
Stiasny, the director of the Sanatory House in Purkersdorf. The Sanatory House was owned in
shares by different members of the family (Nora Stiasny, Minnie Miiller-Hofmann, Emil . ..
Zuckerkand| and Amalie Redlich, the only sister of the Zuckerkandl brothers) since their uncle
Victor Zuckerkandl's death in 1927. Nora moved to thé Sanatory House in the late 1930ies.

Amalie and Otto's son, also called Viktor Zuckerkandl, was a musicologist. Their youngest
daughter Hermine, called Mini, married Wilhelm Maller-Hofmann, a painter and teacher at the
Viennese “School - later “Academy”- of Applied Arts” (Wiener Kunstgewerbeschule™ where he

was to succeed Kolo Moser as the head of the Department of Painting.

Come March 1938. Amalie Zuckerkand! had converted to Judaism when she had gotten‘married
to Otto Zuckerkandl in 1895. Like all citizens who were declared Jewish under the .Nuremberg
Laws® and who owned property exceeding the value of 5000.- Reichsmark (RM), she had to file
an ,,assét declaration* (Vermégensanmeldung) in the early summer of 1938. Amalie
Zuckerkandl's ,asset declaration®, one of approximately 50 000 such declarations surviving in
the Austrian State Archives, is dated July 15", 1938 and reveals only very scarce information.
Her pension — a voluntary benefit paid by the “Jewish Community” (Kultusgemeinde) — was 800
RMa year. In comparison the average worker's income in the German Reich - where wages
were a little higher - in 1937 was 1.856 RM a year. (Frank Bajohr: Parveniis und Profiteure.
Korruption im Nationalsozialismus. p.235.) The average German worker's income was thus
more than twice Amalie Zuckerkandl's modest pension. Additionally, Amalie Zuckerkandl
declared she was receiving financial support ,from friends* amounting to 133.33 RM a month,
— - 002727
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which — she stated - were paid on a voluntary basis and would soon cease to be paid out
altogether. (Vermdgensanmeldung Amalie Zuckerkandl VA 34 764, Osterreichisches
Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Abteilung Finanzen, Vermdgensverkehrsstelle. Annex B). In
Die Félschung Hubertus Czernin has pointed out that this voluntary payment came from
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, an assumption later confirmed by correspondence between Mini

Hofmann and her brother Viktor Zuckerkand] (see below).

Amalie Zuckerkandl's children had been living good if not outrageously prosperous lives until the
Anschluss. Their situation was completely changed after March 1938. Victor Zuckerkandl, her
son, was in Sweden and later went to the US. He remained in exile until the war was over. Nora
Stiasny's husband Paul and their son Otto fled to Czechoslovakia immediately after the
Anschluss. Nora's broperty was in Purkersdorf was robbed, confiscated and put up for forced
sale in early summer 1938. (Nora's fate has been subject of Die Falschung: Der Fall Bloch-
Bauer und das Werk Gustav Klimts, vol. II., p. 380 ff.) The Sanatory House, which was
estimated at a value of over 400 000 Reichsmark in 1938, was ,aryanised” by the Kontrollbank.
None of the owners ever got a single Reichsmark out of the sale. (wArisierungsakt* Sanatorium
Purkersdorf, Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Abteilung Finanzen,
Vermégensverkehrsstelle.) Nora Stiasny remained in Purkersdorf, bereft of her assets, waiting

for an emigrant visa.

Minnie Mller-Hofmann, who had converted to Catholicism at the time of her marriage, evaded
filing an ,asset declaration® in 1938 because — as her son Victor Muller-Hofmann told the author
in the summer of 2001 — the family had managed to bribe an official in charge. For a little while
longer, Mini Miiller-Hofmann maintained there was N0 reason known to her why she should be
considered Jewish under the Nuremberg Laws* (,Arisierungsakt* Sanatorium Purkersdorf,
Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Abteilung Finanzen,
Vermdgensverkehrsstelle), a position she was not able to hold up for a very long time. She was
found out already in 1939. Wilhelm Mller-Hofmann's so-called ~Gauakt®, a file on his political
“behavior” during the Nazi Era has survived in the Austrian State Archives, and contains a card
from a ,card-index of adversaries* (“Gegnerkartei”) that is dated with December 2™, 1939 and
states that he ,is married to a Jewess and considered an outspoken adversary of the
movement.(...)* (,Gauakt* Wilhelm Miller-Hofmann, Zahi 49296, Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, -
Archiv der Republik, Bundesministerium far Inrieres. Annex C) The couple's two sons, Victor
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and Rudolf Miller-Hofmann were sent into exile to Sweden in February 1939. Wilhelm Mller-
Hofmann, who had been promoted head of the Department for Painting at the Academy in
November 1937, had to quit his job in March 1938 after the Anschluss and was forced to retire
in November 1938. His work of art of two decades was destroyed at the Academy as
~degenerate” (,entartet*) as he wrote in a letter to the Ministry of Culture in 1947. (Personalakt
Wilhelm Mdller-Hofmann. Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik,
Bundesministerium fir Unterricht und Kunst.) His application for acceptance into the
Reichskulturkammer that was to monitor all cultural activities for the years to come was refused
on grounds of his political beliefs and his Jewish wife. He was granted a small pension but
unable to gain a living in whatsoever way during the next seven years, yet at the same time

financially responsible for a growing circle of dependants.

Shortly after the Anschluss, on March 1 5™ 1938, Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer, the owner of the -

“Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!”, fled to Prague. On April 27™ 1938 the Finance Authorities
launched a bersecution against Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer accusing him of tax evasion in several
instances in the years between 1927 and 1937. Subsequent confiscation of his property was
ordered only a month later on May 14", 1938. It was then that the “liguidation” of Ferdinand's
personal assets was initiated by his lawyer Erich Fiihrer, a process that resulted in robbing one
of the most prolific Austrian collectors of this century of all the works of art he had collected over
the decades, leaving him but one — his own portrait by Oskar Kokoschka.

In 1939, Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer organized “that the painting was given back to us (the

Zuckerkandl-Mller-Hofmann family) when already in exile" according to Mini Mﬂiler-Hoffnann’s

accounts in 1999. (Quoted in Hubertus Czemin: Die Félschung. Der Fall Bloch-Bauer und das
Werk Gustav Klimts. vol. Il, p. 397.) On first sight, this might seem rather unlikely. Yet if one
studies the fate of ot only one, but several Austrian collections of art confiscated by the
National Socialists, the picture is quite a different one. On January 28", 1939, the agents of the
Federal Monuments Authorities, by then “Zentralstelle filr Denkmalschutz”, came to the Bloch-
Bauer Palais in Elisabethstrasse. The minutes of their visit surviving in the “Federal Monuments
Office” explain the purpose of their visit: , The procedure that had been agreed upon was that
those pieces for which an export permit could not be granted were to be marked
(-gekennzeichnet”).” All of the paintings in Ferdinand Bloch-Bauers house are then listed - and
most of them, except for four paintings and a couple of drawings, are numbered

£53 o 0C272Y
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(.gekennzeichnet"?), probably because, as mentioned above, export permits for them were to be
refused. The two portraits of Adele Bloch-Bauer by Klimt were not numbered, neither was
Amalie Zuckerkandl's portrait (or, for that matter, Ferdinand's own portrait by Kokoschka.) Each
one of the oil paintings that had been left unnumbered was 3 family portrait. (Aktenvermerk Dr.
Josef Zykan, “Zentralstelle fir Denkmalschutz”. Archives of the “Federal Monuments Office” -
Bundesdenkmalamt, Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer, Karton 32, Z1782/39 Annex D) If we are
sure that the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!” was in Ferdinand Bloch Bauer’s house in
Elisabethstrasse on January 28", we know that it is not mentioned again in the decrees on the
seizure of the Bloch- Bauer property , ZI. 782/Dsch/39 and 1204/Dsch/39. It has to be assumed
that the painting was taken out of the house in Elisabethstrasse sometime in 1939 and most
probably taken to Amalie Zuckerkandl's apartment in Griinangergasse. None of the other family
portraits (neither‘tv;lo Klimts of Adele Bloch-Bauer nor the Kp}gg§ch_!§q) is nﬂept{ogeqin the the
decrees on the séizure of the Bloch- Bauer collection either. (Sammlung Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer,
Sicherstellungsbescheide Z1.782/Dsch/39 and 1 204/Dsch/39. Archives of the “Federal
Monuments Office” - Bundesdenkmalamt, Karton 8/1)

Even though Klimt was 3 highly estimated painter by standards of the Third Reich, his portraits
of Jewish ladies were not immediately an object of — national — desire. All in the contrary, the
author of the present study does not know a single case in which export permits would have
been refused for family portraits in 1938/39. The fact that many of these works of art, for which
an export permit had been granted to begin with were nevertheless cc;nﬁscated later, was due to
changing laws and financiaj politics. If we take the — very similar — case of the affluent Lederer
family (of Hungarian descent), we can see that their whole collection of art was confiscated in
Vienna in 1938/1939. Yet the confiscation lists at the Federal Monuments Office contain remarks
on two works of art: A “Portrait of a Lady in a White Dress with Black Hair" — being Klimt's
"Portrait of Serena Lederer” and a “Portrait of a Boy” by Egon Schiele featuring Erich Lederer.
“Als Famifienbild zurickgeblieben” it says in each case meaning that the two paintings - having
been family portraits — had been exempt from confiscation. (Aktenvermerk “Zentralstelle fir
Denkmalschutz”, Archives of the “Federal Monuments Office” - Bundesdenkmalamt,
Restitutionsakten Lederer, Karton 9, 71 ')‘5514/39. Annex E.) Nevertheless, the two Lederer
family portraits that hag been stored in shipping crates with an agency in Vienna, were later
confiscated as ,alien property” by the Gestapo (Vugesta) and sold off.

o . R 002730
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Similarly, an export permit was granted in Berlin for the ,Portrait of Paula Zuckerkand]* by
Gustav Klimt. The shipping crate which contained the painting, however, remained in Berlin unti|
the war had started when shipments into foreign countries were more or less stopped. The
»Portrait of Paula Zuckerkand!” is said to have been destroyed in the shipping company during
an air-raid in the early 1940ies. (Personal communication to the author from a descendant of Dr.
Kathe Freund, niece of Paula Zuckerkand! and owner of the portrait after Paula Zuckerkand|’s

death, 2001.)

The members of the Zuckerkand| family who remained in Vienna after the Anschiuss came
under growing financial pressure. Already in the fall of 1939, Mini Miller- Hofmann had written
to her brother Viktor Zuckerkandi: »(--.) The good news is that we have been able to rent the
desired apartment in Haspeting (close to Bergen). Setting and landscape ére wonderful, the
pleasant aspect being that we can asé the apartment all year round. For the time being we are
however only going to spend the 5-6 months in summer here, especially because of rﬁotheff
(-Mama®) so that she does not have to be on her own all too long. | worry about her as the
pension being paid by Fermry is so insecure, every month again one does not know whether thé
money will arrive. However, we do hope for the best. Our own pension has unfortunately also
been cut down by 30 RM, some new sort of tax, but one can make up for it by living
economically.” (Letter from Minnie Muller-Hofmann to her brother Viktor Zuckerkandl. Estate of

Viktor Miiller—Hofmann. Annex F)

In Mai 1940, the weekly reports of the “Jewish Community” in Vienna (from which Amalie
Zuckerkandl had up to this point received her pension) note that ,Frau Professor Zuckerkand| is
to be invited and to be questioned whether she receives any State or other form of pension in
which case her pension from the Community is to be cut down.. .. (Undated minutes - May 1940.
Archiv der Israelitischen Kultusgemeinde Wien, Anlaufstelle, Aktenordner D", ,Aktennotizen,
Beschlisse, Verfiigungen® 1940/41. Annex G ) Already June 1939, the Jewish Community had
been providing 50 000 bowls of soup to the needy every day. Most of them had not had any
income whatsoever since March 1938, The Kultusgemeinde had become unable to provide

more than absolute necessities to its members.

In June 1941, Mini Maller-Hofmann wrote to her brother Viktor at Wellesley College,
Massachusetts on the subject of her mother again : ,Dear Viki, Jjust a few words to clarify the

il i - - .
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conditions under which Mama’'s trip to you can take place. After receiving a couple of letters from
Mama I do know why misunderstandings have to come about. She expresses herself in such a
confused manner that one can hardly follow, especially if details do get lost sometimes. In order
to be granted her visa, she has to have a passage on a boat that is both booked and paid for for
a special date. To be precise she has to have a photocopy or any other valid confirmation in
order to prove that the booking has been made specifically for her. With her confirmation and
with the passport she has to get she can then go to the consulate where she gets her visa in
addition to her quota and can then travel. There is no other way. (...) She could not have gone
with Nora - who will hopefully get away this time — one way or the other as the rumor goes that
all the seéts are booked. Nora’s reservation is supposedly for July. | can imagine that coming up
with the money was probably not easy for you and I do feel sorry. It is, hov?ever, absolutely

- necessary that they both leave as we have had a lot of excitement (, Aufregungen®) this past
winter. What do you say about Ferry’s unheard-of behavior (-unerhértem Verhalten“)? He has
suspended his payments to her although he is supposedly very wealthy and living well.
However, we will provide all that is necessary in the meantime and we hope that Heinrich will
also make a contribution. Once Nora will be gone, things will get easier. (...)* (Letter from Minnie
Muller-Hofmann, Haspeting, Bavaria, to her brother Viktor Zuckerkandl, Wellesley College,
Massachusetts - opened by the Wehrmacht - dated June 4™, 1941. Estate of Viktor Miiller—

Hofmann. Annex H )

Probably in the year of 1942, Wilhelm Miiller-Hofmann sold the «ortrait of Amalie Zuckerkand|*
to Vita Kanstler, the former assistant of Otto Kallir, who had ,aryanised“ Otto Kallir's Neue
Galerie in Grunangergasse. According to Victor Miller-Hofmann, Wilhelm's son, the family had
been friends with Otto Kallir ever since he remembered, which is how they had probably met
Vita Kanstler, Kallir's former assistant. Vita Kanstler and her husband Gustav Kiinstler were not
affiliated with the Nazi movement. Gustay Kinstler's ,Gauakt”, the file on his palitical “behavior”
during the Nazi Era contains the following notice dating from December 1942: «His political
altitude is not nationally orfented. His wife has taken over a Jew's art gallery. Both have decent
incomes and yet they donate very little. They are still partisan to Jews and the
monarchy.”(,Gauakt" Dr. Gustay Ktmstlér, Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik,
Bundesministerium fiir Inneres.) The Neue Galerie in Griinangergasse in the center of Vienna
was across the street from the house in which Amalie Zuckerkandl lived from 1924 until she was
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forced into a an apartment with many others (“Sammelwohnung™) in the 9" district, Grundigasse

1/2, in November 1941.

Many years after the sale, Vita Kiinstler wrote an — as far as | can see - undated essay entitled
«Erinnerungen an die Neue Galerie" that states ,During the war | was also offered a painting by
Klimt by Prof. Miller-Hofmann, who also needed money. The painting in question was the
unfinished portrait of his mother-in-faw, Mrs. Amalia Zuckerkand!. | purchased the painting for
the Galerie for the negotiated amount of 1600.- RM. Around the same time my husband'’s book
~Kleiner Fihrer zu Kunst und Kultur in Wien® had been published and he had received a
payment- of 2000. — RM from the publishing house. Of course my husband soon came to the
gallery to see the painting and fell in love to the extent that he proposed to buy the painting for
his recently received 2000.- RM so that | could at least book a small profit which was essential
to continue my business. It was such that the painting first came into my husbands office at the
Berglandverlag at Schwarzenbergplatz and was later brought to our apartment. After the end of
the war | asked Mrs. Miiller-Hofmann — whose husband had meanwhile died - whether she
wanted fo have the painting back. She replied that it would have been bombed in their apan‘h":ent
in the Augartenpalais, that she was happy it had been saved and that she did not grudge us the
painting (“génne es uns”).* (Victoria Maria a.k.a. Vita Kanstler: “Erinnerungen an die Neue
Galerie.” p. 16b. Undated typescript. Property of Vita Kiinstler's family. Annex [) As Gustav
Kiinstler's book was published in 1942, it is very likely that Vita Kanstler purchased the painting

that very year and sold it to her husband around the same time.

On April 9%, 1942, Amalie Zuckerkandl and her daughter Nora were forced into a train to
nowadays Poland. Their names are listed in the deportation lists of the Finance Authorities
(“Oberfinanzprésident Wien”) for the 17" transport to Izbica. (Deportationslisten des

_ “Oberfinanzprasidenten Wien", Finanzlandesdirektion Wien, Archiv der Republik,
Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv.) It is assumed that they both perished in Belzec. Nora’s husband
Paul and their son Otto who had fled to Czechoslovakia were caught in Prague and perished in
Auschwitz. Amalie Redlich, Viktor Zuckerkand!'s sister and one of the other owners of the
Purkersdorf Sanatory House were she and Nora Stiasny had been neighbors, was taken to the
camps together with her daughter ﬁtda Jorisch. Neither of them would come back.
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No later than (but possibly already before) March 1942 Hermine Miiller-Hofmann was forced to
carry an identity card marked “Jew”. (“Deutsches Reich. Kennkarte J". Hermine “Sara” Miiller
née Zuckerkandl. Issued by the Polizeiprasident Leopoldstadt, Vienna, March 2™, 1942.
Property of the Miiller-Hofmann family. Annex J} In September 1942, the Gaustabsamtsleiter
wrote a letter to the Director of the ,Central Agency for Jewish Emigration* (,Zentralstelle fir
Jidische Auswanderung”) SS Hauptstuf. Pg. Brunner on the subject of the Miiller-Hofmann
couple. Eichmann's ,Zentralstelle fiir Jiidische Auswanderung* had originally been founded to
rob the Austrian Jews of their remaining belongings during the process of obtaining papers for
emigration. Since the beginning of the war it had taken to organizing the transports to the
camps. SS Hauptstuf. Pg. Brunner was in charge of deportations and would eventually send
around 50 000 people to the camps. A copy of the letter from the Gaustabsamtsleiter to Brunner
survived in Wilhelm Maller-Hofmann's ,Gauakt*. It says:.As it is unbearable that a ,mixed
couple® (,Mischehepaar”) are still tenants in an apartment in the Augarten Palais at this stage [
do ask you for their evacuation. The wife is Jewish by decree of the “Racial Authorities of the
Region” (,Gausippenamt“) and is currently working as an aid of the Sisters of the Parish St.
Leopold in the 2™ district where she is helping out in the subject of rel:g;ous instruction. The
husband is of German blood but one of those ill-famed subjects from the previous regime
(.Systemzeit*) some of whom are still living in the Augarten Palais.* (,Gauakt* Wilhelm Muller-
Hofmann, Zahl 49296, Ostereichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Bundesministerium
far Innefes Annex K). ,Evacuation® - LAussiedlung” - was the codeword for deportation and
synonymous with death. No later than this very September 1942, Wilhelm Miller-Hofmann and
his wife seem'to have gone to Bavaria for the rest of the war. They barely survived.

On March 24, 1943 the Bloch-Bauer file at the “Federal Monuments Office” (then ,/nstitut fiir
Denkmalpflege”) was closed: , The Bloch-Bauer collection has been liquidated in total by the
finance authorities.”. (Aktenvermerk Dr. Herbert Seiberl, Institut fur Denkmalpflege dated
February 24", 1943. Archives of the Federal Monuments Office — Bundesdenkmalamt,
Restitutionsakten Bloch-Bauer, Karton 32, Z1.808/k/41.) A Kokoschka portrait of Ferdinand
Bloch-Bauer was the only painting of the entire collection that was exported to its owner’s exile

in Zurich.

-
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Hermine Mailer-Hofmann, née Zuckerkand! and her husband Wilhelm in Bavaria during the war.
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In February 1943, an exhibition of Klimt's work opened in what had formerly been the Secession
and was now “Aussteflungshaus FriedrichsstraBe” A file containing material on the preparation
of the exhibition has survived in the Archives of the "Austrian Gallery”. Among other papers, the
file contains an undated hand-written list (of potential donors to the exhibition?) which lists the
name Muller-Hofmann. (Handwritten List - of potential donors?- , Akt zur Klimtausstellung 1943,
Archiv der Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere Annex L) The name is, for whatever reason,
crossed of. It seems that the person who wrote up the list knew that the Miiller-Hofmanns had a
painting by Klimt and only found out by inquiring further that they did not any longer. Where the
original information had come from remains unclear, however, Erich Fahrer, Ferdinand Bloch-
Bauers lawyer had also been contacted in the course of the preparation of the exhibition. He
gave Adele Bloch Bauer’s portrait that he had secured for himself on loan for the exhibition. It
might very well have been him who had told the organizers of the exhibitio;'i that the “Portait of
Amalie Zuckerkandl” had been given back to the Zuckerkandl/Miiller-Hofmanns. _ -
Another — type-written - list in the same file contains insurance values for the paintings on loan.
One of the donors listed on this type-written list is the Neue Galerie owned by Dr. Vita Kiinstler.
Under the heading of Neue Galerie we find the titles of two paintings: “Portrait of a Lady”
("Damenbildnis”) and “Waldinneres”. There is no reason to doubt that the “Portrait of a Lady”
was identical with the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl”, which had been purchased by Dr.
Kinstler in 1942. The painting was to be insured for 10.000 RM., but is crossed off off for it
ended up not being exhibited. (Insurance List. Akt zur Klimtausstellung 1943, Archiv der

Osterreichischen Galerie Belvedere. Annex M)

Shortly after the end of the war, Wilhelm Muller-Hofmann wrote to the “Academy of Applied Arts”
from Bavaria. His personal file in the Archives of the Ministry of Culture contains the fragment of
a letter that says: ... sister of my wife to Poland. Their whereabouts have been unknown since
the summer of 1942. | was only able to save my wife from running the same fate through a Stay
in Bavaria by keeping my adress strictly secret. When her existence became known to the
Gestapo nevertheless last year (1944) the destruction of the infrastructure of both postal
services and transportation had already progressed to such an extent that the measures taken
in order to liquidate us could not be carried out. Resulting from the constant pressure [ have
been exposed to.over the past se ven years, | am suffering from a severe heart condition.
Currently-the Augarten Palais where my apartment used to be is under Russian occupation. All
of my personal be;’ongings have been looted except for the most primitive necessities which are
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in my Bavarian place of hiding, they could have been saved had | not been forced to leave
(Vienna) to begin with. | am thus currently without apartment, without furniture, without sufficient
clothing or even underwear. The Third Reich has severely punished me for disliking the Second
Reich to begin with. “ (Personalakt Wilhelm Miller-Hofmann. Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv,
Archiv der Republik, Bundesministerium fur Unterricht und Kunst.) He applied for readmittance
into the services of the “Academy of Applied Arts” as of Oct 18", 1945,

On November 13" 1945, Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer died in Zurich.

On April 8", 1946, Wilhelm Muller-Hofmann — who had so far been on the other side of the line
of demarcation and therefore unable to travel - fi inally arrived in Vienna to }om the Academy
‘Wiagalr_}_ - However, the couple’s economic situation remained very tense. As they had lost their
apartment, their fu_mlture and all other property, Wilhelm Miiller-Hofmann applied for an advance
on his salary to the Ministry as a loan for the “purpose of reconstruction” in Mai 1948. The
advance of Austrian Shillings 5 100.- that he asked for was granted and to be paid back in
twenty monthly installments of ATS 500.-. On September 4™, he was to be promoted to the pdst
of a Professor at the then “Academy of Applied Arts”. .Professor Miiller-Hofmann is a well-
respected teacher of great merit”, the decree says. (Personalakt Wilhelm Miiller-Hofmann.
Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Bundesministerium fir Unterricht und
Kunst.) His promotion was late, too late. Wilhelm Miiller-Hofmann had passed away on
September 2", 1948. His widow Minnie was granted a monthly pension of ATS 538,35 as of
October 1%, 1948. The ATS 538.- pension just covered the ATS 500.- payments on the advance
Wilhelm Maller-Hofmann had received for the “purpose of reconstruction”. (Bescheid des
Zentralbesoldungsamtes vom 15. Nov. 1948. Personalakt Wilhelm Mdller-Hofmann.
Osterreichisches Staatsarchiv, Archiv der Republik, Bundesministerium fir Untemicht und Kunst.

Annex N)

In 1946, Erich Fihrer, Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer’s former lawyer was tried in Vienna. On hundreds
of pages of testimony, the portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl is not even mentioned once.
(Strafsache gegen Erich Fhrer 11Vr 5418/46. Landesgericht fur Strafsachen, Wien.)

In March/April 1948 the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!l” was shown in an exhibition at the
“Acadamy of Fine Arts” in Vienna. The painting ran under the heading of “Bildnis Frau Z.”, the
- o 002737
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Neue Galerie is listed as owner, probably not entirely correctly as Vita Kiinstler had already sold
the painting to her husband around 1942/43 (Entwicklung der Osterreichischen Kunst von 1897
bis 1938. Akademie der Bildenden Kiinste. Marz/April 1 948)

In 1979, Robert Bentley, né Bloch-Bauer, nephew of and heir to Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer wrote a
letter to an unidentified gentleman by the name of ,Gustl* about his uncle Ferdinand. o(--.) I his
bedroom in Vienna, Elisabethstrasse, uncle had Klimts painting: Mrs.Amalie Zuckerkand|, No.
213, plate 105 in the catalogue raisonné. Mrs. Amalie (Maltschi) Zuckerkand! was an intimate
friend of my aunt Adele and uncle Ferdinand. Her daughter Minnie was married to Professor
Miiller-Hofmann. | am ignorant of what happened to her since 1938. Uncle Ferdinand purchased
the painting from Mrs. Zuckerkandl. It is included in the inventory of 1932 in addition to the six
paintings which are in the Austrian Gallery today. Uncle never told me the purchase price. It was
insured for 8.000 Shillings, the four landscapes for 10.000 Shillings each. It was such a fow
value that Klimt's work was attributed to in pre-war Shillings. The catalogue raisonné mentioned
above states that the porirait of Amalie Zuckerkand| had been property of the Bloch-Bauer
collection, that it was afterwards owned by Professor Miiller—Hbfmann and that it is currently |
owned by a private unknown to me. | would be very interested to find out how the painting came
into the property of Milfer-Hofmann and who the current owner is. In Dr. Rinesch’s lists the
painting is never mentioned, probably not in Dr. Erich Fihrer's, either. So from whom and how
and when did Miller-Hofmanns acquire the painting? Who did the current owner purchase it
from?* (Letter from Robert Bentley to an unidentified gentleman by the first name of “Gustl",
dated February 17" 1979, Family Archives Bentley/Altmann. Annex 0)

It has so far been assumed that the letter was written from Robert Bentley to Gustav Rinesch.
Yet it was not. Had it been addressed to Gustav Rinesch, Robert Bentley would not have written
»in Dr. Rinesch's fists* but “your lists*. But who is the so far unidentified ,Gustl“? In any case he
must have been someone who had followed the Bloch-Bauer family very closely. Might he have
been identical with Gustav de Leon, Robert Bentley's cousin? Does an answer from the
unidentified ,Gustl maybe exist in the Robert Bentley estate, and does this letter maybe confirm

the story of the painting we already know?

In 1986, Hermine Mller-Hofmann answered a letter from Louise Gattin, née Bloch-Bauer,

Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer’s niece in Canada who had contacted her. “Dear ;uise”, it says,
P s 002738
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- “although we have not seen each other for such a long time I certainly have not forgotten you-—|

can picture you, at your unforgettable mother’s place and then later, after your marriage. Gl
was very happy to receive your letter and | can hardly imagine that you are 78 years old and that
I am 84. (...) Mama’s portrait is in Possession of a certain Dr. Vita Kiinstler, an art historian who
has acquired the painting through Kalir. She called me recently and told me that she has
decided to bequeath the painting to the Austrian Gallery by will. | can live with that* (Undated
letter from Mini Maller-Hofmann to Luise Gattin, née Bloch-Bauer. Property Dr. Salomon
Grimberg, Dallas, Texas. As Hermine Miiller-Hofmann wrote the letter at the age of 84 and was
born on May 16",1902, it can be dated between May 1986 and May 1987.Annex P) Ifone
reads Hermine Miller-Hofmann's letter carefully, one has to assume that Luise Gattin had asked
what had become of the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!”, which implies that she knew that the
Maller-Hofmanns ﬁad taken over the painting from Ferdinand Bloch—Bauef"s estate at some
point (and'had probably accepted the explanation how they acquired it.) Luise Gattin might have
even assumed that Minnie Hofmann still had the painting. Had Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer himself
told his niece that he had asked for the painting to be given back to Amalie Zuckerkandl/ the
Mller-Hofmanns? Had Robert Bentley found out by writing to the unidentified “Gustl" in 1979
and told Luise Gattin who than later contactd Minnie Maller-Hofmann when an acquaintance of
her’s, Dr. Saomon Grimberg came to Vienna? However, Luise Gattin knew the transaction had
happened and had at least not wondered about it when she wrote to Minnie Hofmann in
1986/87. Otherwise the reply would have been a different one.

In 1988, the ,Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl* was donated to the Austrian Gallery by Vita
Kinstler under the condition that it remained in her house for her lifetime. In May 2000, Hermine
— called Minnie - Miiller-Hofmann died in Vienna at the age of 98. In the year of 2001, Dr.
Viktoria Maria - called Vita - Kiinstler died in Vienna at the age of 101 years. The ,Portrait of
Amalie Zuckerkandl* has been in the Austrian Gallery since.
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Conclusion

There is no reason to doubt that the -Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl* was acquired by Ferdinand
Bloch-Bauer frofn the sitter herself in the 1920ies and that it remained his property until at least
January 28, 1939, when it was registered in his house in Elisabethstrasse by the agents of the
Zentralstelle fir Denkmalschutz. We also know that in the decrees on the seizure of the Blobh-
Bauer property dating from 1939 there is no further mention of the painting. (None of the other
family portraits - neither two Klimts of Adele Bloch-Bauer nor the Kokoschka - is mentioned in
the the décrees on the seizure of the Bloch- Bauer collection either. ) We can assume that the
.Portrait of Amalie ZuckerkandI® transfered from the house in Ehsabeﬂ‘ustrasse to the

- Zuckerkandls sometime in 1939 "~

It has been laid out that although Gustav Klimt was a highly estimated artist in Austria i in 1938,

not a single incident has yet come to the knowlegde of the author of the present study in which

an export permit for a Klimt family portrait would have been refused in1938/1939. This indicates

that the portraits of “Jewish” ladies were not considered of national interest under the 1920 law

in the first year or so after the “Anschiuss”. If we look at comparable confiscations of Austrian
collections of art, we can see that family portaits were often exempt. Nevertheless, these ..~ e

portraits were in high demand from the beginning of the 1940ies again,

Hermine Maller-Hofmann's stated that the painting was given back to her family on initiative of
Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer. There is evidence that Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer stayed in touch with
Amalie Zuckerkandl from his exile in Zurich and that continued supportmg her —financially - at
least into the first half of 1941.

It has been established that the members of the Zuckerkand! and the Mailler-Hofmann family
were subject to both racial and political persecution just like the members of the Bloch-Bauer
family were. Of all the members of the Zuckerkandl family who had not been able to reach a safe
exile, Hermine Maller-Hofmann was the only one who managed to survive the Holocaust in the

German Reich by living in hiding.
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It has been established by various sources that it was Wilhelm Maller-Hofmann who sold the
"Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkandl” to Vita Kinstler in 1942 for 1600.- RM.

Itis established by Vita Ktinstler’s own account that she sold the painting to her husband Gustay

Kinstler a little later for 2000.- RM.

In the files on the preparation of the Klimt exhibition in 1 943, the name Muller-Hofmann features

on a hand-written list (of pontential donors). The name is crossed of. A R Y w

It has been established that in 1943, an unfinished .Portrait of a Lady* owned by Vita Kinstler
was to be insured for 10.000.- RM for the Klimt exhibition in the Ausstellungshaus

- Friedrichsstraf3e. It ended up not being exhibited. ) , e s L —. o

During the Bloch-Bauer family’s restitution efforts in the postwar years, the “Portrait of Amalie

Zuckerkand!” was never mentioned.

It has been established that the painting was exhibited in 1948 as property of the Neue Galerie,
probably not an entirely correct provenance as Vita Kiinstler claims to have sold the painting to

her husband in 1942 or shortly_after.

Vita Kinstler credibly stated that she had asked Minnie Miller-Hofmann whether she wanted the
painting back after 1948. However, no postwar settlement was reached on the purchase of the

portralt.

!

=z - 002741

The Portrait of Amal:e Zucke:kandl by Gustav Klimt - PrOVenance Documentatnon and Comments

Eatato T S o N T L



20

Interpretation

Austrian post-war restitution legislation uses the term “invalid (legal) transaction” (“nichtiges
Rechtsgeschaft *) frequently. (Annulment Act, Federal Law of 15 May 1946 concerning the
Annulment of Legal Transactions and other Legal Acts during the German Occupation of
Austria; Federal Law Gazette 1 946/106.) The conditions under which such a transaction has to
be considered invalid are layed down in the various Restitution Acts. Under the conditions set
forth in the 3™ Restitution Act, Federal Law of 6 February 1947 Concerning the Annulment of
Property 'Seizure; Federal Law Gazette 1947/54, (3. Rickstellungsgesetz, Bundesgesetz vom 6,
Februar 1947 iiber die Nichtigkeit von Vennc‘jgensentziehungen; BGBI 1947/54; zuletzt gesindert
mit BGBI 1 954/252), which applies to transactions between individuals, a legal transaction that
involved at least one party that was subject to (political) persecution under “German occupation”
is to be considered invalid under various conditions, the most important being that a) the sé!ler
was not able to freely choose the buyer and/or b) the purchase price was not adequate,

The ,Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand!* was subject of three different legal transactions between
and March 1938 and May 1945. The first of these three transactions is an assumed transfer
from the estate of Ferdinand Bloch-Bauer to the Zuckemandl/MUlrer-Hofmann family. As
evidence leads us to assume that such a transaction took place on a voluntary basis, condition
a) (the seller was not able to freely choose the buyer) does not apply. As evidence also leads us
to assume that this first legal transaction did not involve the transfer of money, condition b) (the
purchase price having been inadequate) cannot be applied either. The transfer of the painting
from Ferdinand Bloch Bauer's estate to the Zuckerkandl/Mﬁ!Ier—Hofmann family cannot be
considered an invalid transaction under the conditions set forth in the 3™ Restitution Act.

The second legal transaction the painting was subject to between March 1938 and May 1945
was the sale from Wilhelm Miller-Hofmann to Vita Kinstler, presumably in 1942. According to a
decree dating from April 27" 1938, individuals considered Jews under the “Nuremberg Laws”
and their “aryan” spouses had to register their property with the “Asset Registry”

* Vennégensverkehrssteﬂe”). (VO bber die Anmeldung des Vermégens von Juden. RGBI. |
S.414 /GbIO 1 02/38) The property of the painting had not been registered with the “Asset
Registry” in 1938 when Amalie Zuckerkandl had filled out her ,asset registration” because it had
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then been Ferdinand Bloch Bauer's property. (Hermine Muller-Hofmann had not registered her
property altogether and was facing severe punishment if found out.) It was forbidden for
individuals considered Jews under the “Nuremberg Laws” to freely sell objects made from
precious metals, jewellery and works of art with a value of over 1000.- Reichsmark after
December 1938. (Verordnung iiber den Einsatz Jjudischen Vermégens vom 3.12.1938 (RgBI | S.
1709 - GblO 633/38.Art IV §14 (1)). ‘Wilhelm Miller-Hofmann thus had to sell the painting to
someone he knew. We cannot assume that he was in a position to freely choose the buyer. The
transaction from Wilhelm Muller-Hofmann to Vita Kinstler can therefore be considered as

invalid.

Evidence (Vita Kinstler’s own “Erinnerungen”) leads us to believe that the_ painting was
purchased by Vita Kiinstler for 1600 RM in 1 942. When the painting was to be included in the '
Klimt exhibition in 1943, it would have been insured for 10.000 RM, presumably the market-_vaiué
in 1943. (In comparison, most of the drawings exhibited were insured for 2000 RM. Insurance
values of the other oil paintings ranged as high as 200.000 RM) As Robert Bentley still
remembered in 1979, the painting had been insured for ATS 8000.- before the war.The
purchase price in 1942 had thus only been a fraction (roughly a seventh) of the market value
not even a year later. The purchase price by no means being adequate, the transaction from
Wilhelm Maller-Hofmann to Vita Kiinstler can be considered invalid under the conditions of the

3" Restitution Act .

The third legal transaction the “Portrait of Amalie Zuckerkand|” was subject to between March
1938 and May 195 was the sale for 2000, RM from Vita Kinstler to her husband Gustav Kiinstler

- sometime in 1942,

Under the “Federal Law of 4 December 1998 concerning the Return of Works of Art from
Austrian Federal Museums and Collections”, Federal Law Gazette 1998/1/181 (Bundesgesetz
vom 4.Dezember 1998 (iber die Rickgabe von Kunstgegenstanden aus den Osterreichischen
Bundesmuseen und Sammliungen; BGBI 1998/1/181) works of art that have been acquired by a
Federal Museum or Collection through a valid legal transaction but had before been subject to a
legal transaction.considered invalid under the various Restitution Acts are to be returned to their
previous owners or their descendants under the condition that they have not previously been
subject to a postwar settlement. Vita Kiinstler reported that after the war she “asked Mrs. Miiller-
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Hofmann — whose husband had meanwhile died - whether she wanted to have the painting
back." (Vita Kiinstler: “Erinnerungen an die Neue Galerie.” Undated typoscript. Property of Vita
Kunstler’s family. p. 16b.) Yet Vita Kiinstler had sold the painting to her husband in 1942 as she
herself reported later and was therefore not the proprietor. No terms or conditions under which
the painting was to be given back were discussed or mentioned. Even if the painting had been
Vita Kiinstler's property, Hermine Mller-Hofmann, who remained under extreme economic
duress the first years after the war resulting from damages caused by her family's persecution
and extipction during the Holocaust, was not in the position to freely negotiate a settlement.

Under the “Federal Law of 4 December 1 998 Concerning the Return of Works of Art from
Austrian Federal Museumns and Collections”, the “Portrait of Amalie Zucke_rkandi" which became
_property of the Ausin‘an Gallery through a donation by Vita Kiinstler in 1988 is to be restituted to
the heirs of the late Wilhelm and Hermine Miller-Hofmann.
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mlgn:am vtih she Aif, fuoy Laaﬁtt\*hﬁnfﬁiiaiu Wiea.pﬁ % e

. Higden @ﬂgﬂ = Diragton Iar}Mgg-_

: ugad the Iﬂl‘l Bat‘w Ko Ib.l.ch a3 onenad ¢a
Kay 24 1933 with parnlﬂ t} ] eatm.- (snele ? Thiz ascouat

. reaingd mohanged n Ox thig dsr a fwther

B 5,000,« ware _oareétad ’so hig au&unt acuurdin‘ to ﬂhm- Kages,

§i§° 18, From this $ofol mmount of 5 85,000« thers were 8 agéeac o
\:Y

' A oUs in thvas parial Wﬂ‘anu du ‘Giiu Elmu Cokober 30 until
| Bovsuber 17 fm ot e nnu of 8 8,000.= g gi11]
a &l ageom belenoy e.munt. er hidden acemmd for Mep)

‘ cheSanar vas oarrhd undsr the name Iarl Baamana {snclesurs 11),
'ﬂh.tu sccount wan o;:enad aif Jarusry 19, 1932 vith the poysent of

- 912,000~ the nootunt wes incresesd o B 80,0C0,~ thraush
lavastuamig 4 the yeats 1932, 1833 and 1038, On Janusry 23, 1036
g 80, GGD‘- e uuk, The remaining belance of 8 10,000,» was

' on Yarch 25 =, 1958 by order of the omrdegne Mansger, =, flalqk uxsd

fop the noveri of o sash dedlt of Pardinand BlosheBausr, A ruxsthar
hiddent ‘agecomt Ior Earl BlosheHausp was ¢arried under the
nane ‘.\Eurtlg% utnfi 1Bem angln;uis %‘13_1. Thig nocoun%ﬁaginaﬁenaagao
Faalnan L1k N Ty
%ﬂ ge’mnt wag 1 na?aaszd ta 21 Fra, 45,}3é.- tg% is g ﬁf 73&
(as of Hay 28, 1933} through turther investuents in the rm'l 1930
and 1030 and alas $hrouxh a orediting of the inberssta, Cn Koy 24
1982 this arsdit sgoomnt w=e drwn out at onga, fhile the intarss
for stwtsn§ the man& quarter 1931 wre always acarefited t bha
acoount oa Z1 gnd Dacewbar 31, 1930 and Julr 3, 1931, the
paymsnt of mtemt fock place direod through the assh, The htumnt
amninted 4o 8 X,388,38,

Hidden acpount of i, Suga? QMMEW.

Fop Br.ﬂumr &a&-ﬁa the agequa¥ Gaston anq;m\

Brugeel wes aarriid, This g au?nt‘n :aph Bahiuim: anmnt (u«
dlosura 15) am dolm namis nmng' « Bafere Auzy
1627 the Xonty septs garriad vtk balnn,u of 810 g
i el z:ﬁn gl e

Wy 18- aamn ne QB 1 19 L’f !d.th,n
balafies of m.m.on e ‘iLog Awrm au¥ o8 Desaw
the ¢ & on August xwumshamuahu,em.
g'mt 1Y ‘ 11‘?,’1&&

1, 19
"'dl"i‘! )
1907 and' % Reangfin ot £23, 'm":._‘

s
| f

thil Dmh
£0,000 = tha% 14
mml phriial smevate in

EBOURYY
mcqut 60§ 4,800
., &m fi
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i&. ¥ 1, ﬂu : t %9 &f th
tht 14 1“!; s‘i%! Y “MF hlghut e ia

. 1 & T ﬁxvh ate wore
e n i;t& 0 munw e acodunt ws
ﬂnand mn 2 mnmnt CEED aaﬁtua we s,
;ﬂmh é&q ag30unt was tarvied for Dp,
ey the mawi of Pratin Frever ¥iem (onclagurs
M“ mﬂ ownr Wa t&!m Deosidhay 29, 1931 .gh the §amuﬁ
iﬁm mmxmmnm w7,
500&!.-13:’0 paAE o epadn, Atabap 21; 1931 this ace

o mnﬁ pi P mmn was & ot and the aoesunt vas gansslled.
; s oot

Apsording §o nmlwm m. threw kl4dfn ndocunte ware
sarried foir Fre, Rita (dowx, he atgownt Rita Joseph Barlin wna
gpengd on January 15, 1981 as an Lnvestont of $ 3,080.20, that
ip 3 ®,937.50,

Aaother asstmnt wag opensd in the nans of ﬂaldmimz fnchg & fo.,

Hew Yor¥ on 27 A\xﬁut 1951 with $he mt of § §,000,e,that 13

5 §3,013,68, « fer the gapoeliation of the acsownt Ooldrans

Hmhq & Jo., Neyssbap 11, 1933, of th& neqount wia abangad to Rue
donephi ead the state of the agesumy s of April 1, 1878 aftar
dug investnants and mmmntn had ialm plage w=e 8 5,001 ,.88,

Idden Aanaunt of Vrite Stagkinger, Finigter of Conmerce

for the [ipa Frits Btockingse, the scocung “Johann Grbler
Vorn,Jakol Gzavny® was oarried. Fow Bioekinger psrsonally an- atabling
Asaguhl g opsnad on th books of the gompeny 1A nais Fruns Grasdiep
Viennn on Jamuary 4, 1936 7ith an inveatmant of B 40,000 (snolosure 21)

e

I1loged Browinga

Tha lnt fap h& abws ventlonod hidden ageounte were
made pax-u;r in tng umm ar rand ttanees,
Thase m . ﬂmﬁ yerg mdiﬂf!. under the Vidle sauh xaem to be
TUre booked dn bt faem of AeMI¥ie Lavelens, nie
eounky ot amic mml_ﬁ Ly !. mgq o1 iy h§ sharges for
which there x ,__,t,plymnt Invaitee for sagke
;asu %6, Porthee thogisaaiits mees fo ium b faken rm
.t £1ot biens piyrinly whith ek mwpsstd §0 bere been paid Fop

: , __'1;,_ mtn m.lr: of Deat ¥onluy, for pmtm
AL $hese, preaty’ don't dhow

SN RS LAE (ama i e o e
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i
37|044.06
11600

o

Ewaze mE ow e kD

Wil 8 285,47

mwr

doumany 573 uf Nov22, 1928

thare verd 0 2,400, un:!w tﬁé tlﬁa of fra L] 'ES hm uckep
Fabeik and acuiati # 19 458 fon

[}

mm&lﬂ?ﬁ m:ﬁ sy only

mei

{ig ta dagen “mﬂflﬂ’.
Kiopf

Ira) h!;
o= showd asg aas exvendd m.
signature of Xorl 91gchelausy,

ng th nguf %8 there are tvwe deguments avallahle

wmruno nmbstdn 24 and 27, 19% vhioh ghow ow the yemark
agm F!cr of E’rasmnnk Ferﬂimmﬂ BlodimBzuer, § 2,509,
llgr.l. Lllogible; Furthor without sny 4exh he .,mnea 3g al'ora=

ventloned § 2,850, to gomo %o

§ 8,000 =,

Eﬁ!miﬂn of buainesy yesy 1a4/38:

Agoarg) dgounent
of 81,000 ucmn Eﬂ the debd
explanation

Exmlunntion af hua g

105 9f Yey 2. 1835 there s an amount

t of the dpsrabion sscouns eitheus any

ST

Bealdos the gash wairies. nhtnh ars showt An anolsgure 09

thm wore buoksd threweh the o
1538

peimary mta amd tandelled in the

" P Bugk oxpieey 3 16,80,

Por suks ang mkins 10, -

taterinl - g,?ﬂilg
?ﬁ‘k&l T 3‘;417.43

W--ﬁ@m .,_x,ms;z e fiiranly
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Botburnomant of Exqody Fretgnt Not Bookad
The Qesterralshar Bundasbahmen granted various yeimbursss

mants of whioh fwo snoumty ware nat blooked imthe qagh hook ﬁucerding
%o anolosure 21 wers ralmburcd bud not booksd I 5,438, on oyaeabar
dy 1833, On Januswy 10, 1034 the Py S knggl reodived the amount
, *tabo A mg%uh‘ iy unm{' " 1 o

oked a 1) . On nmary 1634 bk wua
withan ond auqmmg B {5%.000.- bu§ oy the Pestsparkasen's .
asdount only § 103,000, wire Yooked vhes¢hy the amount of 8 28,000 =
Wgdrneursd, 411 together 8 34,200, for paimburaaneng for araais
nggt wara not beoked,
Infatory reluturganent of the Laisndarhark wao notl sntered in the begks .
Tha Leendorbonk velnturied gemd amwmally dnterest shiah Aa the 108l
vidual yoars azaunted auqeﬁ,ug?ta #tafenants of Director IMfolfer (82
clomure 52) 1933/14 8 14,288,

1024 < 38 A 18,076,08
1936 - 29 3 80,004,38
1938 - 37 8 14,860,30

Total & 130,210,84

Thoge amounts wora withheld from the cash in the way thul Bea0rding

ststetente mads by Dirogtor Ffoifer, Knrl BlocheBaysr had ihe Laeno
dorbank paying hin persora]ly seai-anmually thsso sumg nrd 418 nod dge
1iver tham to sach of the sorpony,

Oharity Contributiong

The nmounte paid out by tha comnnr vndor the tifle ‘Chavity
Contributions’ ars echgidarabls higher in the large individusl yearg,
They ancuntsd, for instance, eceording to anclosre 33 in 1997 11}
1953 to 3 21’078_03-‘6-

Taclosury I3 - 198735 71,376,48 Theraof game to the wierg
of the Cantral Jharity Cone
tribution fund

" 34 = 1932.34  18,508,07

. 30 = 193433 139,817,828 107,800,
n 36 = 1933.36 144,018,890 08,579,
4 37 « 195037  206,468,~ 173,310,

Zgpsalally lapge am the paygents mads to the Contral Chard
Gontrdbution Pund, It xould have o ba found syt fon uhlgh purresd 'tgsa
Oharity demtributions wers used, {This Gontributien Fund 1g puld $o be
adainigtuved by the Lefpnik Lundanturger), '

buad ontotbitions. o B0 1 B oL dettsarattnl e
wived gon tlons 00,5 a8 D, L s unged 9 the
Beavd of Diveciora of (U harehelders sﬁmjty, vhiah uaem;?' raprtgnmd
the Iatarssts of the emsll eioldary fhe ganiribulion given to the
aforezentiened persony seymed 9 have garved for spaclel -purpigag,

(The following pavagtaph dseiossd conteidutions 4 2
vhich eaupaimned for revlestien of Sahuspnig), e

2 . - . - L]
. Subjeett Sogkkewpiag with reference 9 ox maymentys
; An 1% gan be senn fien 9 aforementiened yplagation the
dsbersoretion of ton Wiagin, Tarses st oRe ooy Do o htous
dnvalees axd ather nesipulations mrv alie 67 INSLNend S0 WG 3 gage
ki, This s Mot saly tax qedidalneiky but alog wabgailesent; This

Mod oL md e

CXEIBYY ¥y, 8
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i umur the sodpany, Tut a

Hyris 0 S8 AnSivAdal Ehiben
MY

7 R4 the 13

gtaoke ware nob ¢ aatieiderstion at atl,

]
Ald gapitsl $axes, She

LW peredng whigh reshlved

-aye o be inventigated

A Ry n‘:“‘uﬁbﬁ'm with
.|

arata

1x8
of the
et
e tax

are a4,

Mo gam p'hg‘ iy Wy et oy onty _ﬁditiau: iz

Tiloss wary paksrad in the backs for the 1 of falatfying balanee
N'l!gfh bag -gu in :mt?m that when antimaiing the ot sh%he Yo~
1ye wary put in a}k iu vfﬁbl‘“ rate ar that individusl ifems of the

The rmom;g breskiown shows what 41fferenges thare sxigt
in the valustiom of ¢

s gtodkl

Bupitiees Yanr  Agtusl Inwane Balenge shaat Urdar valustion

tory agseord= Figurss in Pargsniage

ing %o valuaa

tien of the

foatory
1532 -. 33 5.2153,139.95 4]5751 2‘?5.51 13.0?0
19:’3 - 5& §|W'm|gs 8.31!'312.63 g.m
195‘ - 30 ’,W'MJA B,‘!ﬁﬁ.llﬁ'.ﬁﬁ 10.7%
198& - 1'56 12.&‘”-”1093 10.199,95?.55 13.9(’:0
1935 - 5? ) B,B?ﬁ,léﬁ.m 7.180,734.2‘7 1&.642

12 the cowpany tuformed Shs tex alalnletretieon in its answsne of §he
fact that the !.n?am:m:'ggwaa #atimatsd at the rats of B percent halow

the magkek price and

$ook plage this is not true, os &Y aan be sganm fram the faragoing
breakdem ﬂ‘zz undervalustion aounts to spproximately 9,64 to 18,94
lnﬂsq inddy

years,

¥ no othar depreolations fream shoss yaluga

Furthapsare, 1t haa t0 2o t=ken into censideration that
t tho sstimation basly of tha inddvidus) #ax yesrs paa rafe gsmalley
 bagsuse of 41legal withdrawals and fiotiticus sntiaa which heve
: been fentionod I the firsk pert of thts ropart, Agearding to tha
| oasporation Yax payment arder a1 oopy-of wiloh is enclapsd the foruep
- taxetion boaly would have ta ba inoreasdd nat only for the undere
: valvation iu She {avenlory estimetian, hut alse for the illegal

- Withirawals, as fellowas
' Efalo- For Yasr Bastn for

. Amounks for whleh the astiuction basis

| ure tha taxat ;
‘H ncunrdifxg;?; H!ﬁ = Inbaot Reisp.fop
: pay. andse Heug hooked axogsn T8,
‘1028 1om 1,340,000,  '4,000,-- - -
: “ﬂ ' “mf/ﬁ tm:ﬂﬁ'@.- 8000, = =
. 1“49 1531 ﬂ 3}!!35%&' 5311}32-' - -
g2 hag;gg GRS, HENLIS 15,0000 34,49
4] . s B gdl - . g =
B0 s poans mane wos
Comwsym e asisarias ﬁ.’m.au .

The sorperation bax

e ¥ e pagls

. The emperation tax I8 vhtsh 1 tikgimy ws Mt Galivieed
2 UL govimiant, it Ying (400 dOnEldeetitn g e

003577
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ef the invont amounty to B 685,800,25 for tha tire 1628230
until msa-s'z?r{r': final qepimtion 1g avallable for the 1ggt yanr,
Largs statematite of ascoyndz gnd explanations are englased to the
forzor answers buv the aforsmentionzd fiotibious Asblts And 1119«
gal el thdmawals for wioh the estimation basls w2a refluend ame pot
mantionad,

On Apdl 8, 1938 a 4l oarreotion of the corporatien
taxes for thsp;gar 18%35, 836-38, 103837 wns mads by the 89%a
Dany in apnas) to the tax adminiutration, Op the bagls of thig apnes .
{826 onalogure 1 of the Interin Hegrt Bay 1), the taz suthority
inorgaged the original estimtion bakls of the year 1035«%5 fpron
3,%3,990 by

2 040,57 3

*he differanssn fron eash propasds and intersat pelaigpes.
went whioh were not ontered in the oks ag asoertained in the a0urae
of thin revision, arg nat Yot inalwisd 1n thig oar=gation, Thaue
faaunts, 10 weil ap dlifecences of the other venre, worg only later
inhe baginning of Uay deolared by ths oompany §o %hs tax suthopity-.
but ngt only ig thg corporation tax cosn %o have beap Taduged Pap
the aforeaentionsd swounts but algg Sha inoone tax daolar-:ieng oY
tha persong in quaation veve sgeaingly medy oul lagorrsetly, p 1o-
A4y At 19 not any mora toba scosrtainsd wha Fecadval the Lritas aps
yT&ISy Jpag tha i) agul withdrawmls, A\t hag oS¢ o ragated that
these vlthdrawls tust be o dsd €o the lncoms of the fenily Hloal-
Bavar, The damo 16 to bb paid alih saard ty ghe arvilting of {na

Gergats for the hidden acodunts 1f they ara not gent:ingd i the ta
daslarations of the Ladividus] freranns,

SUHUARY ¢
Tas tot-l Bookkseping oon b9 mo wesans D2 constdersd ag pee

fulap huokkggim hassume of irregularitles, eruauras ~p2 =ashings
Wiloh woro & sspesiaily in tha yoarg prior to 1831, furthepmore
bacauge of falpy bank Mtrlsa and pepaated ernod*lationg, Far vhe
afarasentionsd reagons this bockReeping aleg esn Rot be considered
ag fully ahls tg bring proof, fSoce. men gnl::tiona ara 0f a kinl ¢hut
9as cen 0ell them fraud against the fbs 8 80d tha ghapeholdsps, The
foundepy of 211 thegs rendpulntions seemsd 4o haya besn Xarl Rleche
Bauer, He wag desgribed by esployees ag baing rough, gdfigh, almyg
thinking of hig own advartege, one ehg doen not ke inte consldepaa
tion his purrommai o alao gaemes to have forced his saplayegg, by
usnsmﬁz- thraetaning them with d1gmineal, te carry qub sush mndpu.
labiens, Ageariing to informtion given iz, Karl SlncheBauoy wag
able to vialg Salupaniy, Blogkinger and othap zambarg of tha govarne
wont without previaug netifisatian, The aferensntiunss Derson =g 4ks
tharetore under the srataqtlon of the former smaten povernzant and 4%
would have baen $a vain tg snter a olalm wnder the forner systam under
those dlraumstances, 1t Lg o be explalned by the afopamsntioned meao
f0ns that vhen tha eapleyess did know of thase muripulations anl 444
not sak fap tegnl Droseslings agninst the purgong oangsrned, It hag
0 be endd thaf gnly through tha deteileq oxplenations given hy by,
Vietor Preifor and tng ather employsss, 1t wng poasible to earry oug
the investigsitan of thy susiness booke of the years 1927/28,1957/38
:gaﬁf'é:_ebncid:;nmr shu:-ttti?a. i;auau posalbls o brdng a part g

£og 0f thy sompany s forg cquntrias only dus to the fagh
that Kaxd BlosheXausr as soungel Yould always trelng over thy bindeng
lupgags which w3 nat to bs egitrolled; Thug tha Pandval of prgpepy
%0 foraten gsuntriey vas slmnlified, The taxe authorities wil) hive
%o find out fo whuy sxtent tho WE gansedlnents dad fhy defrairiing by
the pofsons sunnernsd ms oarried oud, '

Me‘ﬁﬁ’% tgl ::::-:_nn guea*b-,r ﬁim;:or Efolfer largy
arounty are ; R Eiven 1o Mes, Delfugy apd 4 il
dran of }J_uztm. 1Y etuld by Anderiained ﬂh; BYoskinger au?..‘!biﬂm-

Rev 10 4212 pun' 003578
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